

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Final Degree Project Biomedical Engineering Degree

Analysis of slow waves in the cerebral cortex during aging

Barcelona, 12 June 2023 Author: Arnau Güell Brugués Director: Maria V. Sánchez Vives Co-Director: Arnau Manasanch Berengué Tutor: Agustí Gutiérrez Gálvez

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere acknowledgments to my directors and tutor, which have supervised the project with extreme care to achieve the best outcome. Also, I thank my parents, friends, colleagues and all the people around me that has encouraged me to persist on the project and not to give up.

Abstract

Slow oscillations, which are the default mode of the cortex and the main oscillation in slow-wave sleep, may be affected by aging. In this project, aging effect on the properties of the cortical slow oscillation is studied in 3, 7, 15 and 20 months of age sedated mice with Slowpy, a specialized pipeline for slow oscillations.

Results show that aging affects the duration of Ups and Downs, as they slightly decrease with age, as well as the is an increase of the firing rate of the Up states with age. These effects can be explained by several biological and physiological reasons, such as changes in neuronal excitability and network connectivity. However, the effects of aging in functional connectivity remain unclear with this project, as this relationship has not been directly addressed in this study.

Table of contents

1. Introduction	7
1.1. Motivation	7
1.2. Objectives	7
1.3. Methodology	7
1.4. Limitations, scope and span	8
2. Background	9
2.1. State of the science	9
2.1.1. Sleep stages	9
2.1.2. Slow waves	10
2.2. State of the art: Slowpy pipeline	12
3. Market analysis	16
3.1. Addressed sector	16
3.2. Historical evolution of research	16
4. Conception engineering	17
4. Conception engineering4.1. Dataset	17 17
 4. Conception engineering 4.1. Dataset 4.2. Peak detection algorithms 	17 17 17
 4. Conception engineering	17 17 17 17 18
 4. Conception engineering	

6. Execution chronogram	.29
6.1. Work breakdown structure (WBS)	.29
6.2. WBS dictionary	. 30
6.3. Precedence analysis	. 31
6.4. GANTT chart	. 32
7. Technical feasibility	. 33
7.1. SWOT analysis	.33
8. Conclusions and future work	. 34
References	. 35

List of figures

Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the files of the default pipeline, and their interactions. Arrow heads
indicate data or parameter dependency12
Figure 2. Flowchart of the process followed by the pipeline
Figure 3. Visualization of two LFP traces taken from a specific subject
Figure 4. Detection GUI of a single channel14
Figure 5. Example of a plot obtained from the analysis GUI
Figure 6. Historical evolution of Cortex neuroscience articles on PubMed16
Figure 7. Example of a peak detection performed by the MUKO filter (bottom-right plot). Around
t=46, LogMUA filtering performs poorly, as it amplifies a noisy Down state. If LogMUA detection
was used, however, it would not be a bad classification in general, as these kind of noisy episodes
are relatively infrequent
Figure 8. Options menu of the detection GUI
Figure 9. Histograms of the detected Up and Down state durations
Figure 10. Boxplots of the detected Up and Down state durations
Figure 11. Boxplot of the frequency of waves
Figure 12. Boxplot of the average firing rates for the Up states
Figure 13. Boxplot of the maximum firing rates for the Up states
Figure 14. Boxplot of the PSD of Up states at frequencies 60-100 Hz 27
Figure 15. Boxplot of the slopes of the upward and downward transitions
Figure 16. Graphical representation of functional connectivity in function of the level of anesthesia.
Figure 17. WBS of the project

List of tables

Table 1. Description of the metrics originally included in the analysis module of the Slowpy	y pipeline.
Table 2. Short description of the columns in the <i>load</i> sheet of the metadata file	
Table 3. Short description of the columns in the analysis sheet of the metadata file	
Table 4. WBS dictionary of the project	
Table 5. Precedence analysis of the project	
Table 6. GANTT chart of the project.	
Table 7. SWOT of the project	33

1. Introduction

The aim of this report is, mainly, to write down each of the elements and steps that have been done in this Final Degree Project. In this first section, the main lines of the project will be defined, as well as its objectives, methodology, limitations, scope and span.

1.1. Motivation

In the last twenty years, brain oscillations have been studied as a relevant topic in neuroscience, as they are critical for neural communication and cognitive functions. Also, they are often target for therapeutic interventions. In particular, brain slow oscillations are studied in the field of slow wave sleep, although they are also associated to states of anesthesia and even of brain lesions. Moreover, they play a crucial role in various sleep-related brain processes like replay and memory consolidation.

Then, this project aims at taking a closer look at these oscillations, and study their relationship with aging, adding a new contribution on the research done in this field.

1.2. Objectives

The aim of this project is to study how age affects the properties of the cortical slow oscillation in 3, 7, 15 and 20 months of age sedated mice. This study will be performed using a previously developed pipeline. Another objective is to provide some new functionality to it, as during the execution of this project there will be total access to its code.

1.3. Methodology

This project will be executed under the direction of Mavi Sánchez Vives, MD, PhD in Neurosciences, who has been ICREA Research Professor at the Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS) since 2008, where she leads the Systems Neuroscience group; and co-directed by Arnau Manasanch Berengué, Data Analyst at IDIBAPS and Biomedical Engineer. The tutor of this project is Agustín Gutiérrez Gálvez, PhD in Computer Engineering and Associate Professor at the Department of Electronics of Universitat de Barcelona.

The project starts with a planning period, in which the objectives are detailed and the chronogram is elaborated. Then, some literature related to the topic of study will be reviewed, in a bibliographic research stage, as well as a market analysis will be performed. After that, a specialized slow oscillations analysis (Slowpy) pipeline developed by Mr. Manasanch will be used for the central study of the project. After analyzing the mice data, some results will be discussed, and a conclusion

will be stated. The progression of this project will be followed up by several periodic meetings with the directors of the study.

1.4. Limitations, scope and span

The scope of this project is the analysis of slow wave local field potential (LFP) signals recorded from a population of mice with different ages. From this analysis, some highlighted metrics will be chosen and discussed. Moreover, some metrics will be added to the Slowpy pipeline in order to achieve a wider glance of the effect that aging may have on brain slow oscillations.

The span of the project is to contribute to cortical neuroscience. This contribution will be performed in coordination with the Systems neuroscience lab at IDIBAPS, the main biomedical research institute of Hospital Clínic de Barcelona, a leader hospital in Catalonia and Europe.

Some of the limitations of this project are related to the temporal duration of the project itself, as it is limited. Furthermore, the dataset used in this study only records the cortical activity of mice with two electrodes, in contrast of other datasets with more electrodes per subject.

2. Background

Over the last two decades, the study of brain oscillations has emerged as a relevant topic in neuroscience, critical for neural communication, cognitive functions, altered in various neurological and psychiatric disorders and thus, a target for therapeutic interventions. In particular, brain slow oscillations have been a subject of study in the field of slow wave sleep, although they are also associated to states of anesthesia and even of brain lesions. Slow waves play a crucial role in various brain functions related to sleep, including processes like replay and memory consolidation. In this section, the state of the science for slow waves will be reviewed, and the state-of-the-art analysis pipeline used in this project will be described.

2.1. State of the science

Before introducing the theory of slow oscillations, it may be interesting to review the different stages sleep is divided in.

2.1.1. Sleep stages

While sleeping, the brain, far from remaining inactive, goes under several characteristic stages along the sleeping process. In short, there are two types of sleep: non-rapid eye movement (NREM) and rapid eye movement (REM), which alternate cyclically (Colten et al., 2006). In physiological conditions, sleep episodes begin with four distinct stages of NREM, and 80 to 100 minutes later they start a REM period. From this point, NREM and REM sleep will follow successively in cycles of approximately 90 minutes throughout the night (Carskadon & Dement, 2011), with NREM taking usually 75% to 80% of sleep time.

REM sleep, which is defined by EEG activation, muscle atonia and episodic bursts of rapid eye movements (Carskadon & Dement, 2011), usually gets more prominent in the last third of the sleep time.

In contrast, in NREM sleep various brain functions are regulated. It is divided in four stages –1 to 4–, having the lowest arousal threshold at stage 1 and the highest one at 4. Indeed, sleep at stage 1 is superficial and susceptible to easy awakenings, while in stage 2, the EEG is characterized by sleep spindles and K-complex waves. In stages 3 and 4, high-voltage low-frequency oscillations (>75 μ V, ≈1 Hz) dominate the EEG recordings. These stages are known also as deep sleep or slow-wave sleep (SWS) (Carskadon & Dement, 2011).

2.1.2. Slow waves

In 3 and 4 NREM sleep stages, slow waves oscillate at approximately 1 Hz in the cerebral cortex, a complex and multi-connected network that encompasses billions of neurons which form multiple circuits of precise connectivity (Pfeffer et al., 2013). These waves dominate the cortex, even in periods of functional or anatomical disconnection, to the point that they have been described as the default mode of the system, in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments (Sanchez-Vives & Mattia, 2014).

Slow waves oscillate between periods of activity and silence, known as Up and Down states. In the Down phase, virtually all cortical neurons remain deeply hyperpolarized and stay silent for a few hundred milliseconds. On the other hand, in the Up state, there is a generalized depolarization for several hundred milliseconds in which the membrane potential reaches the firing threshold, the thalamocortical system is seized by intense synaptic activity, and neurons fire at rates even higher than in quiet wakefulness (Massimini et al., 2004).

This oscillatory state is not trivial, and it has several physiological implications. First, down states are useful for recalibration of the signal and cellular maintenance, while the neuronal activity of the up states is necessary for the preservation of the cortex properties and its synaptic connectivity (Sanchez-Vives & Mattia, 2014). Taking into account that the cortical network is recurrently connected (Lorente de Nó, 1934; Singer, 2021), it could function isolated provided that there is some intrinsic excitability. Despite that, recurrency has the risk of generating activity outbursts, i.e. epilepsy; therefore, the potential consequences of re-entering excitation are regulated by inhibitory neurons and hyperpolarizing currents. As a result, excitation and inhibition are maintained and balanced during cortical function (Sanchez-Vives & Mattia, 2014).

Statistically, a bistability model can be applied to this oscillation, regarding features such as the membrane potential, which is followed by a bistable firing rate, and the relative regularity of Up-Down cycle duration. This specific bimodal distribution is explained by three different factors (Sanchez-Vives & Mattia, 2014):

 The first property is the synaptic reverberation in neuronal networks in combination with nonlinear amplification of pre-synaptic input by neurons, which can explain the firing rate bistability. In particular, this feature can be characterized through a mean-field approximation by the dynamics of the instantaneous firing rate v(t) of the network, i.e. the MUA signal, usually taken from the power of the frequencies between 200 and 1500 Hz, in 5 ms windows (Dasilva et al., 2021). From this signal, the energy function E(v) can be extracted, showing two minima at high and low v, that is, two stable Up and Down states, respectively.

- 2. The second key model feature is the intrinsic fluctuations of v(t) that happen in this meanfield dynamics model with two attractor states. This randomness, which is a Poissonian stochastic process proportional to the amount of neurons, makes the system capable to overcome barriers and to switch between states by chance.
- 3. However, this synergy between non-linear dynamics and endogenous noise does not completely describe the experimental results, as Up and Down states alternate rather regularly. This point is supported by the evidence of relatively low coefficient of variations of their durations, in contrast with the exponentially-distributed permanence times in the stable states of the model. Therefore, we have to add an activity-dependent mechanism of self-inhibition based on the relationship between cell fatigue and firing rate. After the increase of network activity, cell fatigue also rises until a maximum is reached and the Up state ends. As the activity decreases, so does the cell fatigue, and the cycle starts again.

Taking into account these properties, a model based in a relaxation oscillator has been proven to fit the experimental oscillations (Sanchez-Vives & Mattia, 2014).

Regarding the biological function of slow oscillations, they act as a dynamical regime of the cortical tissue that follow a cycle for a relatively short time, leaving room to restorative functions that remove the neurotoxic waste products accumulated during wakefulness. Moreover, up states activate different functional networks depending on the sensory response of the cortex (Kenet et al., 2003), by exploring multiple network states of the cortex, and thus, being the basis for memory consolidation (Peyrache et al., 2009) and retention, through long-term plasticity (Chauvette et al., 2012).

Research both in humans and animals shows that the normal aging process may have a particular role in slow waves, as their density, power and amplitude decrease substantially with age (Carrier et al., 2011; Latreille et al., 2019), whereas there is also a decrease in cortical excitability and a significant thinning of the cortex, both related to cortical maturation and cognition changes (Gaggioni et al., 2019; Natu et al., 2019; Ong et al., 2022). Last but not least, aging relates to the cortex by damping its structural and functional connectivity across different cortical regions (Dubè et al., 2015).

With all this literature background, it is remarkable that aging may play a crucial role in slow oscillations. Therefore, the aim of this project, as stated in Sections 1.1. and 1.2., is to study how

age affects the properties of the cortical slow oscillation in 3, 7, 15 and 20 months of age sedated mice.

2.2. State of the art: Slowpy pipeline

For the analysis of the slow oscillations, there are several toolboxes and packages on Internet, such as Spike2 (Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, 2019), NeuroExplorer (Nex Technologies, 2021) and FieldTrip (Oostenveld et al., 2011). In this project, we will use Slowpy, a pipeline developed at the Cortical Networks Lab in IDIBAPS - Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (Manasanch, 2020).

The Slowpy pipeline consists of two self-explanatory Python notebooks (one for the detection of slow oscillations and another one for the analysis of them), along with four original Python scripts, a metadata Excel file, a .txt file with the module requirements and a guidelines document (Figure 1). From the brain signal to be processed, which must reflect a clear slow oscillation, obtained from sedated or asleep subjects, Slowpy extracts several metrics across different conditions (e.g. different levels of anesthesia, wild-type vs. knockout subjects, aging conditions, etc.).



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the files of the default pipeline, and their interactions. Arrow heads indicate data or parameter dependency.

As depicted in Figure 2, some previous steps must be performed before any analysis, which are:

- Setting up of the files and directories, as well as installing the required working environment.
- Downloading and inspecting the data to analyze to choose the best time periods.
- Setting up the data folder.
- Setting up the metadata.
- Defining the array configuration.



Figure 2. Flowchart of the process followed by the pipeline.

Once these steps are completed, we continue the pipeline workflow (Figure 2), now opening the detection notebook in order to separate the up from the down states. After importing the required libraries, and defining the metadata path, we can visualize in a Graphical User Interface (GUI) the signals of one of the subjects, check their quality and load a specific time period from one or more channels of the subject (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Visualization of two LFP traces taken from a specific subject.

Then, we can perform the detection of the Up and Down states in the next embedded GUI. This detection step has to be done semiautomatically for each recording, and validated through visual inspection (Figure 4). For this detection, we must choose one or more channels to detect and later analyze, and set the following hyperparameters and options:

- The duration of Up and Down states.
- The threshold that discriminates between states. There is also the option of choosing the integrated automatic threshold.
- The method of detection of the peaks (Section 4.2.).

Once the options are set, six plots are displayed (Figure 4), in order to visually validate the quality of the detection. On the left, we have three signals with the up states marked in red. The top-left plot depicts the raw signal of the selected channel in the desired time period, and the other two are filtered signals (see Section 4.2.). On the right part, there are three more plots. The one on the top shows a bimodal distribution of the filtered signal, the adjustment of the model and the previously set threshold. Below this, there are two plots that display the averaged down-to-up and up-to-down transitions of the wave, as well as the slope of the transition at its center.



Figure 4. Detection GUI of a single channel.

Once the detection is done for all the desired subjects and channels, we can start analyzing the data with the analysis notebook. For this notebook, the detection performed previously is extracted and used to compute different metrics of the up and down states, either by subject or in group. In this case, we also need to import the libraries, set the metadata path and load the analysis GUI (Figure 5). Now, we can visualize several statistical analyses of the data, separated by condition and even channels, if desired. The available metrics are described in Table 1 (Section 4.3.).



Figure 5. Example of a plot obtained from the analysis GUI.

In this pipeline, the boxplots are statistically evaluated by the Mann-Whitney U test, which tests for differences between two groups on a single, ordinal variable with no specific distribution (Mann & Whitney, 1947). It is usually used for determining whether two sampled groups are from a single population, without using parameters (McKnight & Najab, 2010).

As it can be observed, this pipeline allows us to perform an end-to-end data analysis and visualization of slow oscillations, which is of great interest for the project. Furthermore, it offers a vast range of metrics that can be insightful for extracting results.

3. Market analysis

This section is focused in the market perspectives of this project, and the context of it in a global and interconnected society.

3.1. Addressed sector

As this project aims to contribute to research done in cortical neuroscience, the primary sector this project addresses is the research in this field. Nonetheless, as it is a growing discipline, this study could ultimately help in, for instance a new treatment for a neurological disease, having a more direct impact in general society.

3.2. Historical evolution of research

Cortical neuroscience is a growing field of study nowadays. By a basic search in PubMed, it can be observed that article publications related to this topic have been multiplied by 6 in the last twenty years.



Figure 6. Historical evolution of Cortex neuroscience articles on PubMed.

This fact shows that there is room to actively contribute to this discipline in the future, as nowadays hundreds of laboratories around the world work towards finding out how this region of our brain works.

4. Conception engineering

In this section, several topics related to the conception of the project are discussed, as well as different executive choices are compared. First, there is a description of the dataset that has been used for this project. After that, two filters for the raw signal are compared. Finally, the set of features that will be evaluated are explained in detail.

4.1. Dataset

The dataset used in this project consists of a set of Local Field Potential (LFP) extracellular recordings from a population of (n=45) 3, 7, 15 and 20 months old wild-type mice. These cortical recordings were performed between April 3, 2012 and March 9, 2015, following a set of regulations detailed in (Castano-Prat et al., 2019).

For their acquisition, a continuous infusion of ketamine was delivered subcutaneously to each animal to maintain a constant level of anesthesia. LFP recordings from the visual cortex were obtained by means of two tungsten microelectrodes per subject. The signals were amplified with a multichannel system, and acquired with Spike2 software (Cambridge Electronic Design Limited, 2019).

Once the data files are loaded to the pipeline, only one single channel per subject will be used for detection and analysis. Multi-channel analysis is dismissed for this dataset, as there are only two measures per mouse. Moreover, only a time period of about 200 seconds will be used, because enough up-and-down samples will be extracted.

The condition of each mouse and the desired period of measure, as well as the data and result filenames, have to be previously detailed in the metadata excel file.

4.2. Peak detection algorithms

The Slowpy pipeline, utilized for the detection and analysis of Up and Down episodes of the recorded slow waves, uses two distinct filters to pre-process the signal.

On the one hand, the firing of the local network, related to the multiunit activity (MUA), is estimated by band-pass filtering the LFP signal between 200 and 1500 Hz in 5 ms windows (Ruiz-Mejias et al., 2011; Sanchez-Vives et al., 2010; Torao-Angosto et al., 2021). This filter, which uses the logarithm of the MUA (logMUA), achieves an effective separation between Up and Down states. This discrimination can be validated with the bimodal distribution of its histogram.

On the other hand, the second filter considered is the one proposed by (Mukovski et al., 2007). This filter, also known as MUKO (Torao-Angosto et al., 2021), is based on the differential spectral composition of the LFP in the beta/gamma frequency band (20–100 Hz). Like the previous one, it also separates active from silent states in a bimodal distribution.

The Slowpy pipeline offers both logMUA and MUKO filterings for the detection of peaks (i.e., separating between Up and Down states), while it only uses logMUA filter for the analysis step as part of some of the metrics (see Section 4.3.), as it provides a quantitative measure of the total amount of firing of the neurons.

By inspecting how the filters perform for some of the recordings, at a given threshold and up and down durations (see Section 5.2.), it can be observed that, although both methods effectively discriminate between states, MUKO filter has a better outcome as noise in the Down state is less amplified (Figure 7). Therefore, less noisy Down periods are misclassified.



Figure 7. Example of a peak detection performed by the MUKO filter (bottom-right plot). Around t=46, LogMUA filtering performs poorly, as it amplifies a noisy Down state. If LogMUA detection was used, however, it would not be a bad classification in general, as these kind of noisy episodes are relatively infrequent.

4.3. Metrics

The metrics that will be the first to be analyzed are the ones already integrated in the pipeline, described in Table 1:

Metric type	Metric name	Description	Selectable
			options
	LFP	Display of the original LFP signal	☑ show detection
Signal traces		of a single subject.	
Signal traces	Log MUA	Display of the signal after a	
		logMUA filter.	
Down-up plane		Scatter distribution plot of the up	☑ log scale
		vs. the down durations of one or	☑ show points
		more subjects and channels.	Show curves
		Each color belongs to a condition.	
		Complementary histograms of up	
		and down durations by separate,	
		equivalently.	
Durations	Up duration	Boxplot of the up-state durations.	☑ split channel
		One or more subjects and	analysis
		channels. Split by condition.	☑ fliers and
	Down duration	See "Up duration".	significance
	Slow frequency	Boxplot of the wave frequencies:	Show statistics
		1	
		$dur_{up} + dur_{down}$	
	Up CV	Boxplot of the coefficient of	
		variation of the Up state:	
		σ_{up}/dur_{up}	
	Down CV	See "Up CV".	
	Cycle CV	See "Up CV".	
		$\sigma_{up+down}/dur_{up+down}$	
Firing rate	Average FR up	Boxplot of the mean, for each	☑ split channel
		channel, of the logMUA during an	analysis
		up. One or more subjects and	☑ fliers and
		channels. Split by condition.	significance
	Average FR down	See "Average FR up".	

	Std. FR up	See "Average FR up".	☑ add logMUA
	Std. FR down	See "Average FR up".	reference
	Max peak up	See "Average FR up". Max value,	☑ show statistics
		for each channel, of the logMUA	
		during an up.	
	Cycle FR	See "Average FR up". Mean, for	
		each channel, of the logMUA	
		during an up and the consecutive	
		down.	
	Relative FR	See "Average FR up". Mean, for	
		each channel, of the logMUA	
		during an up vs. the mean for the	
		consecutive down.	
	FR per second	See "Average FR up".	
		$\sum_t logMUA$	
		t	
PSD bands	Full trace	Boxplot, for one or more	✓ log scale
		frequency bands, of the power	☑ z-score
		spectral density of one or more	
		subjects and channels. Split by	
	Full up	See "Full trace". PSD of the Up	
		episodes.	
	Full down	See "Full trace". PSD of the Down	
		episodes.	
PSD traces	Same as "PSD	Like PSD bands, but in a	☑ log y-scale
	bands"	continuous trace, split by	☑ log x-scale
		condition.	☑ z-score
Spectrogram		Representation of PSD for	☑ add traces
		separate channels through	☑ log y-scale
		several time windows.	⊠ log
			spectrogram

Table 1. Description of the metrics originally included in the analysis module of the Slowpy pipeline.

Once all the analysis is performed, only the metrics that have a minimal statistical significance (in Mann-Whitney U test, only metrics with p-values smaller than 0.05) will be taken into account.

The pipeline is designed in a modular way, so it allows the addition of new functionalities. One of the functionalities that has been developed in this project is the computation of the Functional Connectivity across different brain areas, as described in (Dasilva et al., 2021). However, as the mice of our initial dataset only have been recorded by two electrodes in the visual cortex, no significant data can be extracted from them. Thus, another dataset will have to be used for the study of this metric (see Section 5.4.).

5. Detail engineering

In this section, the implementation of the project is explained in detail, as an application of the different choices done in Section 4. First of all, the structure of the metadata file will be briefly explained, and then the chosen parameters for Up and Down states detection will be exposed. Finally, a selection of the more relevant results obtained will be presented.

5.1. Metadata definition

The first step of all, just after installing the needed libraries, is the setup of the metadata file, that will be called by both detection and analysis notebooks to interact with the downloaded, and then generated, data files.

For this pipeline, the metadata file is in excel format as it is intended to be used by researchers that are not necessarily familiarized with programming. This file consists of two sheets, one for loading the raw data to the detection notebook and saving the signal after detection in a separate directory (if preferred), called 'load'; and another one to be read by the analysis notebook and retrieve the pre-processed file, called 'analysis'.

For the sake of completeness of the explanation, the raw data files of this project are in .smr format, although the pipeline can also take as input other file formats such as .mat or .hdf. The filenames follow the structure *DATE_COND_*mouse*X_AREA*.smr, where *DATE* is the date of recording in YYMMDD format, *COND* is the abbreviated aging condition of the subject (that is: 3m, 7m, 15m and 20m), *X* is the ID of the mouse (useful when two subjects with equal characteristics are recorded the same day), and *AREA* is the cortex region where the electrodes were placed, in this case, visual.

In this file, each row corresponds to a mouse, while each column is a different feature, path or parameter. Column names of *load* and *analysis* sheets, and their descriptions, can be found in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively.

Column name	Description
filename	Name of the file to be detected.
path	Full directory path where the filename is located.
save_dir	Full directory path where to store the output of the detection. It can be the
	same one where data is located or a new one.
channels	Channels to detect, separated by commas or <i>all</i> if all channels are needed to
	be detected.

time_start	Starting point of the time period to analyze, in seconds. It must be an integer,			
	and smaller than time_end.			
time_end	Ending point of the time period to analyze, in seconds. It must be an integer,			
	and larger than time_start.			
array_config	Identifier of the array configuration. This identifier will be added to			
	array_configs dictionary in params.py file.			
output_name	Name that will be used to save the detection file and then fetched to perform			
	the analysis. It is saved in pickle format (.pkl).			

Table 2. Short description of the columns in the load sheet of the metadata file.

Column name	Description
filename	Name of the file to be analyzed. It must be equal to output_name.
path	Full directory path where the filename is located.
condition	Condition used for that specific file.
channels	Channels to analyze. Same rules as in the load sheet.

Table 3. Short description of the columns in the analysis sheet of the metadata file.

Consequently, after setting the metadata up, the params.py file has been modified, adding this array configuration to the array configurations dictionary:

```
array_configs['electrode_aging'] = {
  'labels': ['lfp1','lfp2','Mi 1','Mi 2','HR'],
  'coords': [[0,0], [0,1], [0,0], [0,1], [0,0]]}
```

5.2. Peak detection

For the detection stage, some hyperparameters need to be set to achieve a satisfactory output. As it can be observed in the left part of Figure 8, there are a few parameters and checkboxes to be set. First of all, a channel must be chosen. If no artifacts are found in that channel (lfp1), we proceed with the detection of it. Otherwise, we use the lfp2 channel. After detecting all subjects, lfp2 channel has only been used three times.

Regarding Up and Down duration parameters, they have been left at their default values (0.1, similar to (Torao-Angosto et al., 2021)), and the parameter evaluated by visual inspection of the outcome has been the threshold, starting at 0.5, its default value, and switching to the automatically

detected one if there is some defect. As stated in Section 4.2., LogMUA detection has not been used in this project.

Channel	lfp1√ ✓	Up dur	0,1		Detect 0	Channel	Comments:	Place any comment	Not a Slow Wave
Threshold	0,5	Down dur	0,1		Save Ch	Delete Ch]		
	Automatic	LogMUA de	tection	[Save	File			

Figure 8. Options menu of the detection GUI.

5.3. Results and discussion

After analyzing the 45 subjects in function of their age, some insights on the influence of age to the slow oscillation properties can be extracted from it. Here are described the most relevant metrics found in the analysis stage.

5.3.1. Up and down durations

One of the measurements of interest in this project is the duration of up and down states for each condition (age range). As can be seen in Figure 9 histograms and Figure 10 boxplots, the duration of Ups and Downs slightly decrease with age. This can be attributed to several underlying biological mechanisms, such as changes in neuronal excitability and network connectivity. The balance between excitation and inhibition of the cortical network may contribute to the shorter duration of up and down states.



Figure 9. Histograms of the detected Up and Down state durations.



Figure 10. Boxplots of the detected Up and Down state durations.

5.3.2. Wave frequency

In this case, frequency slightly increases and has a larger variability with age (Figure 11). These features can be attributed to the same biological factors as described in the duration of Up and Down states, as smaller durations imply larger frequencies.



Figure 11. Boxplot of the frequency of waves.

5.3.3. Firing rate of the Up states



Figure 12. Boxplot of the average firing rates for the Up states.

The observed increase in firing rate of the Up states with age in Figure 12 can be attributed to the same biological factors as described in the duration of Up and Down states. Alterations in neuronal excitability, including changes in ion channel expression and membrane properties, can contribute to an increased firing rate during up states. A tightly related parameter to the firing rate is the maximum of the logMUA during up states. As can be seen in Figure 13, there is also an increase with age.



Figure 13. Boxplot of the maximum firing rates for the Up states.

Additionally, the increase in the firing rate of the Up states can also be observed in the PSD of the Up states at high frequencies (gamma band, 60-100 Hz) (Figure 14).





Figure 14. Boxplot of the PSD of Up states at frequencies 60-100 Hz.

5.3.4. Slopes of upward and downward transitions



Figure 15. Boxplot of the slopes of the upward and downward transitions.

The slopes of the upward or downward transitions indicate how fast is the change from a down-toup or up-to-down transition, respectively. What can be seen in Figure 15 is that both upward and downward slopes get higher (in absolute value), with age. This is again related to the higher firing rate occurring in older mice. As Ups and Downs are shorter, and the firing rate is larger, there is less time to achieve a higher firing pattern, thus making the network to rapidly switch from one state to another, when compared to younger mice.

5.4. Adding new functionalities

As stated in Section 4.3. Metrics, one of the functionalities that has been developed in this project is to allow the computation of the Functional Connectivity across different brain areas.

The example below shows how this has been implemented in the pipeline with another dataset that consists of recordings with 32 channels multi-electrode arrays in rats under different levels of anesthesia (light, mid and deep). As expected, and described in (Dasilva et al., 2021), areas get

more synchronized in deeper levels of anesthesia, thus resulting in an increase in the correlation between areas, as seen in the histograms below.



Figure 16. Graphical representation of functional connectivity in function of the level of anesthesia.

6. Execution chronogram

In this section, all the previous planning of the project is explained in detail. The project is divided in various sections that contain a few work packages related both to execution and managing.

6.1. Work breakdown structure (WBS)

This project is divided in 5 main parts (Figure 17):

- Documentation and managing, with the work packages: Planning, Project follow-up, Report writing and Technical study
- Bibliographic research, with the work packages: State of the science (Sleep stages, Slow waves), State of the art and Market analysis
- Previous steps, with the work packages: Previous setup and Metadata definition
- Detection, with the work packages: Signal visualization and Peak detection (Thresholding, Validation)
- Analysis, with the work packages: Plotting, Interpretation of results and Development of new functionalities



Figure 17. WBS of the project.

6.2. WBS dictionary

The work packages are described as it follows:

Task	Definition	Activities			
1. Documentation and managing					
1.1. Planning	Planning of the project	- Study of the work packages			
		- Elaboration of the			
		chronogram			
1.2. Project follow-up	Perpetual follow-up of the situation	- Ask directors for meetings			
		- Ensure deadline compliance			
1.3. Report writing	Writing of the report	- Compilation of			
		documentation			
1.4. Technical study	Study of the technical feasibility	- SWOT analysis			
	2. Bibliographic research				
2.1. State of the science					
2.1.1. Sleep stages	Bibliographic research on sleep	- Literature review			
	stages				
2.1.2. Slow waves	Bibliographic research on slow	- Literature review			
	waves				
2.2. State of the art	Understanding of the pipeline	- Read the pipeline			
		documentation			
		- Run the pipeline with test			
		data			
2.3. Market analysis	Research on market trends	- Know the addressed sector			
		- Know its historical evolution			
		- Search for future			
		perspectives			
3. Previous steps					
3.1. Previous setup	Setup of all the previous steps	- Environment creation			
		- Download libraries and			
		dataset			
		- Create directories			

3.2. Metadata definition	Setup of the metadata file	- Follow the documentation	
		instructions on metadata	
	4. Detection		
4.1. Signal visualization	Visualize and load the data	- Check for abnormalities	
		- Time period selection	
4.2. Peak detection			
4.2.1. Thresholding	Tuning of the detection parameters	- Test different threshold	
		values for each recording	
4.2.2. Validation	Validate the parameter tuning	- Inspection of the detected	
		peaks	
	5. Analysis		
5.1. Plotting	Visualization of the data	- Test all possible plots	
		- Check if they deliver	
		significant results	
5.2. Interpretation of	Discussion of the results	- Find a biological meaning	
results		- Discuss the results	
5.3. Development of new	Include new metrics to the study	- Check state of the science	
functionalities		- Implement new	
		functionalities by modifying	
		the source code	

Table 4. WBS dictionary of the project.

6.3. Precedence analysis

The project lasts from February 20 to June 4, 2023. Thus, it lasts 15 weeks in total.

Task	Precedence	Duration (weeks)
1.1. Planning	-	2
1.2. Project follow-up	-	15
1.3. Report writing	1.1.	13
1.4. Technical study	1.1.	1
2.1.1. Sleep stages	1.1.	2
2.1.2. Slow waves	1.1.	2
2.2. State of the art	1.1.	3
2.3. Market analysis	1.1.	1

3.1. Previous setup	2.2.	1
3.2. Metadata definition	3.1.	1
4.1. Signal visualization	3.2.	1
4.2.1. Thresholding	4.1.	2
4.2.2. Validation	4.2.1.	1
5.1. Plotting	4.2.1., 4.2.2.	2
5.2. Interpretation of results	5.1.	2
5.3. Development of new	3.1.	4
functionalities		

Table 5. Precedence analysis of the project

6.4. GANTT chart

The GANTT chart of the project is the following, with the critical path highlighted in red.



7. Technical feasibility

In this section, the technical feasibility of the project is evaluated and presented in a SWOT analysis, in order to study the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats of the project.

7.1. SWOT analysis

S	INTERNAL STRENGTHS
1	Experience in data processing and Python before starting the project.
2	Good support by the Systems Neuroscience research group.
3	The pipeline has been previously tested and used for several journal articles.

W	INTERNAL WEAKNESSES
1	Limited time of execution.
2	This head of this project does not have exclusive dedication on it.
3	A cybernetic attack halted the normal functioning of the IDIBAPS facilities during several weeks.

0	EXTERNAL OPPORTUNITIES
1	Research in this field has been growing in the recent years.
2	There is enough literature that supports this research.
3	The understanding of aging mechanisms and their effects is still under investigation.

T	EXTERNAL THREATS
1	There is other and more generalist software that has more functionalities than the pipeline.
2	The processed dataset does not allow connectivity studies.
3	These kind of investigations need funding from governmental helps or private grants.

Table 7. SWOT of the project.

8. Conclusions and future work

Slow oscillations, which are the default mode of the cortex and the main oscillation in slow-wave sleep, may be affected by aging. In particular, significant effects have been noted in the duration of Ups and Downs, as they slightly decrease with age, possibly due to several underlying biological mechanisms, such as changes in neuronal excitability and network connectivity. Furthermore, the balance between excitation and inhibition of the cortical network may contribute to the shorter duration of up and down states.

Also, an increase in firing rate of the Up states with age has been observed. This may be explained by alterations in neuronal excitability, including changes in ion channel expression and membrane properties, which can contribute to an increased firing rate during up states. Other affected metrics are the slopes of the upward and downward transitions.

Some future work that could be performed could be using other brain areas (not only visual but also prefrontal, motor, sensory, auditory, etc.), comparing if changes in the connectivity across these different areas are also present and are related to aging, making the Slowpy pipeline available to the neuroscientific community and organically including other metrics, like functional connectivity, to the pipeline.

References

- Cambridge Electronic Design Limited. (2019). Spike2: Life sciences data acquisition & analysis system (No. 10). ced.co.uk/products/spkovin
- Carrier, J., Viens, I., Poirier, G., Robillard, R., Lafortune, M., Vandewalle, G., Martin, N., Barakat, M., Paquet, J., & Filipini, D. (2011). Sleep slow wave changes during the middle years of life. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(4), 758–766. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.2010.07543.X
- Carskadon, M. A., & Dement, W. C. (2011). Normal Human Sleep: An Overview. In Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine: Fifth Edition (pp. 16–26). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-6645-3.00002-5
- Castano-Prat, P., Perez-Mendez, L., Perez-Zabalza, M., Sanfeliu, C., Giménez-Llort, L., & Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2019). Altered slow (<1 Hz) and fast (beta and gamma) neocortical oscillations in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease under anesthesia. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 79, 142–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2019.02.009
- Chauvette, S., Seigneur, J., & Timofeev, I. (2012). Sleep oscillations in the thalamocortical system induce long-term neuronal plasticity. *Neuron*, 75(6), 1105–1113. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.08.034
- Colten, H. R., Altevogt, B. M., Research, I. of M. (US) C. on S. M., & And. (2006). Sleep Physiology. In Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Sleep Medicine and Research (Ed.), *Sleep Disorders and Sleep Deprivation: An Unmet Public Health Problem.* National Academies Press (US). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19956/
- Dasilva, M., Camassa, A., Navarro-Guzman, A., Pazienti, A., Perez-Mendez, L., Zamora-López, G., Mattia, M., & Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2021). Modulation of cortical slow oscillations and complexity across anesthesia levels. *NeuroImage*, 224. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2020.117415
- Dubè, J., Lafortune, M., Bedetti, C., Bouchard, M., Gagnon, J. F., Doyon, J., Evans, A. C., Lina, J.
 M., & Carrier, J. (2015). Cortical Thinning Explains Changes in Sleep Slow Waves during
 Adulthood. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(20), 7795.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3956-14.2015

- Gaggioni, G., Ly, J. Q. M., Muto, V., Chellappa, S. L., Jaspar, M., Meyer, C., Delfosse, T., Vanvinckenroye, A., Dumont, R., Coppieters 't Wallant, D., Berthomier, C., Narbutas, J., Van Egroo, M., Luxen, A., Salmon, E., Collette, F., Phillips, C., Schmidt, C., & Vandewalle, G. (2019). Age-related decrease in cortical excitability circadian variations during sleep loss and its links with cognition. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 78, 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2019.02.004
- Kenet, T., Bibitchkov, D., Tsodyks, M., Grinvald, A., & Arieli, A. (2003). Spontaneously emerging cortical representations of visual attributes. *Nature 2003* 425:6961, 425(6961), 954–956. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02078
- Latreille, V., Gaubert, M., Dubé, J., Lina, J. M., Gagnon, J. F., & Carrier, J. (2019). Age-related cortical signatures of human sleep electroencephalography. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 76, 106– 114. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2018.12.012
- Lorente de Nó, R. (1934). Studies on the structure of the cerebral cortex. *Journal Für Psychologie* Und Neurologie, 45, 381.
- Manasanch, A. (2020). SLOWPY: Pipeline for the detection and analysis of Slow Oscillations. Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer.
- Mann, H. B., & Whitney, D. R. (1947). On a Test of Whether one of Two Random Variables is Stochastically Larger than the Other. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1214/Aoms/1177730491*, *18*(1), 50– 60. https://doi.org/10.1214/AOMS/1177730491
- Massimini, M., Huber, R., Ferrarelli, F., Hill, S., & Tononi, G. (2004). The Sleep Slow Oscillation as a Traveling Wave. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(31), 6862–6870. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1318-04.2004
- McKnight, P. E., & Najab, J. (2010). Mann-Whitney U Test. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.CORPSY0524
- Mukovski, M., Chauvette, S., Timofeev, I., & Volgushev, M. (2007). Detection of Active and Silent States in Neocortical Neurons from the Field Potential Signal during Slow-Wave Sleep. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(2), 400–414. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHJ157
- Natu, V. S., Gomez, J., Barnett, M., Jeska, B., Kirilina, E., Jaeger, C., Zhen, Z., Cox, S., Weiner,K. S., Weiskopf, N., & Grill-Spector, K. (2019). Apparent thinning of human visual cortex

during childhood is associated with myelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(41), 20750–20759. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1904931116/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1904931116.SAPP.PDF

Nex Technologies. (2021). NeuroExplorer (5.022). www.neuroexplorer.com

- Ong, J. L., Jamaluddin, S. A., Tandi, J., Chee, N. I. Y. N., Leong, R. L. F., Huber, R., Lo, J. C., & Chee, M. W. L. (2022). Cortical thinning and sleep slow wave activity reductions mediate agerelated improvements in cognition during mid-late adolescence. *Sleep*, 45(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/SLEEP/ZSAB206
- Oostenveld, R., Fries, P., Maris, E., & Schoffelen, J. M. (2011). FieldTrip: Open source software for advanced analysis of MEG, EEG, and invasive electrophysiological data. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience*, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/156869
- Peyrache, A., Khamassi, M., Benchenane, K., Wiener, S. I., & Battaglia, F. P. (2009). Replay of rule-learning related neural patterns in the prefrontal cortex during sleep. *Nature Neuroscience* 2009 12:7, 12(7), 919–926. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2337
- Pfeffer, C. K., Xue, M., He, M., Huang, Z. J., & Scanziani, M. (2013). Inhibition of inhibition in visual cortex: the logic of connections between molecularly distinct interneurons. *Nature Neuroscience 2013 16:8*, *16*(8), 1068–1076. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3446
- Ruiz-Mejias, M., Ciria-Suarez, L., Mattia, M., & Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2011). Slow and fast rhythms generated in the cerebral cortex of the anesthetized mouse. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 106(6), 2910–2921. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.00440.2011
- Sanchez-Vives, M. V., & Mattia, M. (2014). Slow wave activity as the default mode of the cerebral cortex. Archives Italiennes de Biologie, 152(2–3), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.12871/000298292014239
- Sanchez-Vives, M. V., Mattia, M., Compte, A., Perez-Zabalza, M., Winograd, M., Descalzo, V. F., & Reig, R. (2010). Inhibitory modulation of cortical up states. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 104(3), 1314–1324. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.00178.2010
- Singer, W. (2021). Recurrent dynamics in the cerebral cortex: Integration of sensory evidence with stored knowledge. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(33). https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2101043118

Torao-Angosto, M., Manasanch, A., Mattia, M., & Sanchez-Vives, M. V. (2021). Up and Down States During Slow Oscillations in Slow-Wave Sleep and Different Levels of Anesthesia. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, *15*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNSYS.2021.609645